Tetrahedron 65 (2009) 1219-1234



Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

# Tetrahedron

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/tet

### Tetrahedron report number 862

## Organocatalyzed Strecker reactions

Pedro Merino<sup>a,\*</sup>, Eugenia Marqués-López<sup>b</sup>, Tomás Tejero<sup>a</sup>, Raquel P. Herrera<sup>a,c,\*</sup>

<sup>a</sup> Laboratorio de Síntesis Asimétrica, Departamento de Química Orgánica, Instituto de Ciencia de Materiales de Aragón, Universidad de Zaragoza-Consejo

Superior de Investigaciones Científicas, E-50009 Zaragoza, Aragón, Spain

<sup>b</sup> Technische Universität Dortmund, Organische Chemie, Otto-Hahn-Strasse 6, 44227 Dortmund, Germany

<sup>c</sup>ARAID, Gobierno de Aragón, Zaragoza, Spain

#### ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 27 October 2008 Available online 12 November 2008

#### Contents

1	Introduction	1219
2.	Catalysis by hydrogen-bonding interactions	1220
	2.1. Brønsted acids	1220
	2.2. Protonated ammonium salts	1221
	2.3. Ureas and thioureas	1222
	2.4. Other H-bonding catalysts	1225
3.	Catalysis by Lewis bases.	1226
	3.1. <i>N</i> -Oxides	1226
	3.2. Heterocyclic carbenes	1228
	3.3. Amines and imines	1228
4.	Phase-transfer catalysis	1230
5.	Conclusions	1232
	Acknowledgements	1232
	References and notes	1233
	Biographical sketch	1234

#### 1. Introduction

Organocatalysis has emerged during the last decade as one of the major issues in the development of catalytic chemical technology.<sup>1</sup> As for conventional catalysis with transition-metal complexes, by using organic catalysts large quantities of products are expected to be prepared using a minimal amount of small organic molecules. Moreover, in the case of working with enantiomerically pure organic catalysts (asymmetric organocatalysis), optically active compounds would be obtained in a parallel way to the classical metal-mediated asymmetric catalysis.<sup>2</sup> In this context, many important reactions have been carried out with excellent enantioselectivities using organic catalysts.<sup>3</sup> Among them are aldol condensations,<sup>4</sup> multicomponent reactions,<sup>5</sup> including Mannich reactions,<sup>6</sup> conjugate additions,<sup>7</sup> and  $\alpha$ -heterofunctionalization of carbonyl compounds.<sup>8</sup>

\* Corresponding authors. Tel./fax: +34 976 762075. *E-mail address:* pmerino@unizar.es (P. Merino).

The three-component Strecker reaction as well as the direct hydrocyanation of imines (modified Strecker reaction) is fundamental carbon-carbon bond-forming processes,<sup>9</sup> which represents one of the simplest methods for preparing  $\alpha$ -amino acids (Scheme 1).<sup>10</sup> The whole process, encompassing both cyanide addition and hydrolysis of the resulting  $\alpha$ -amino nitrile can be made enantioselective, finally affording optically active  $\alpha$ -amino acids, through the use of both metal-based and metal-free asymmetric catalysts. Because of the synthetic utility of  $\alpha$ -amino nitriles<sup>11</sup> many efforts have been directed to the development of catalytic asymmetric approaches to these compounds, as mentioned in the previous literature concerning catalytic asymmetric nucleophilic additions to imines.<sup>12</sup> Although metal-assisted hydrocyanation of imines is still in many instances, the preferred approach, in the future the economically and ecologically more attractive strategy is likely to be organic catalysis. Indeed, a good part of research into the catalytic Strecker reaction during recent years has been devoted to the development of efficient organocatalysts for such a reaction.<sup>13</sup>

Tetrahedror

<sup>0040-4020/\$ -</sup> see front matter  $\odot$  2008 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.tet.2008.11.020



**Scheme 1.** Synthesis of  $\alpha$ -amino nitriles and  $\alpha$ -amino acids through Strecker reactions.

In this review, we describe a detailed and critical overview of organocatalyzed hydrocyanation of imines and related compounds. Emphasis is placed on processes in which a chiral non-racemic organic catalyst is used thus leading to optically active compounds. The reactions are classified by the type of catalysts. Comments on the challenges and opportunities that arise from the use of such catalysts are also provided.

#### 2. Catalysis by hydrogen-bonding interactions

#### 2.1. Brønsted acids

The direct hydrocyanation of imines in an acidic medium using HCN is one of the most efficient methods for the synthesis of  $\alpha$ -amino nitriles. In order to introduce chirality in the reaction, considerable efforts have been made in the development of chiral

phosphates, which effectively promote the hydrocyanation reaction. Thus, the catalytic use of chiral BINOL phosphates promoted the reaction of aromatic imines with HCN to afford (*S*)- $\alpha$ -amino nitriles **2** (Scheme 2).<sup>14</sup>

The influence of the aromatic substituent at the 3,3'-positions was crucial for the enantioselectivity of the reaction. The authors studied several 3,3'-substituents including phenyl, biphenyl, naphthyl, and other substituted aromatic rings and the best selectivities were obtained with the most sterically congested 3,3'-bis-(9-phenanthryl) BINOL **1** at low temperature in toluene as a solvent. On the other hand, far lower ee values were found in the reactions carried out in other solvents such as chloroform, dichloromethane, acetonitrile, and tetrahydrofuran, demonstrating that the best ee value corresponded to nonpolar aromatic solvents. In general, the best results were obtained with *N*-benzyl imines.

The use of chiral BINOL phosphate **1** can be successfully applied to the HCN addition to aromatic ketimines, which afforded lower ee values than aldimines.<sup>15</sup> Addition of catalytic quantities (5 mol %) of chiral Brønsted acid **1** afforded good results, particularly with *N*-benzyl-protected ketimines, but did not attain the same values observed for aldimines (Scheme 3).

The activation of imines took place by catalytic protonation, in which an intermediate iminium **3** is generated. This intermediate then underwent addition of HCN to furnish chiral  $\alpha$ -amino nitrile **2** and to regenerate the phosphate, as illustrated in the catalytic cycle depicted in Scheme 4.

List and co-workers highlighted the feasibility of using acetyl cyanide instead of the volatile and highly toxic HCN in the presence of acid catalysts.<sup>16</sup> Good conversions were found with phenyl-phosphoric acid in both toluene and dichloromethane, but when BINOL-derived phosphoric acids **4a**–**c** were used as catalysts low enantioselectivities were obtained (Scheme 5).<sup>17</sup> This seminal work, however, served to confirm that the reaction could not only be catalyzed by strong acid catalysis, but also by hydrogen-bonding-type



Scheme 2. Hydrocyanation of aldimines catalyzed by BINOL phosphates.



Scheme 3. Hydrocyanation of ketimines catalyzed by BINOL phosphates.



Scheme 4. Catalytic cycle for imine activation by phosphates.



Scheme 5. Organocatalytic acylcyanation of imines.

general acid catalysts, thus opening new possibilities for other catalysts such as thioureas (see below).

The three-component Strecker reaction has been recently reported to be catalyzed at room temperature by sulfamic acid.<sup>18</sup> The corresponding  $\alpha$ -amino nitriles were isolated in 74–96% chemical yield, the reaction showing a broad scope. A variety of aromatic aldehydes and imines were used as suitable substrates. An aliphatic aldehyde such as isobutyraldehyde also gave excellent yields with both aniline and benzylamine. The reaction was conducted without avoiding the presence of moisture and the chosen solvent was acetonitrile. The authors pointed out that water formed in situ or as a trace residue in the solvent may exert a pivotal role on the course of the reaction. Indeed, previous work published two years before, by Yus and co-workers,<sup>19</sup> undoubtedly demonstrated

that the influence of a Lewis acid on the Strecker reaction carried out in acetonitrile is negligible, since the reaction proceeded with comparable chemical yields and reaction rates (Scheme 6).



R<sup>1</sup>: Ph, 4-Cl-C<sub>6</sub>H<sub>4</sub>, *i*Pr, cyclohexyl, 2-furyl, n-pentyl R<sup>2</sup>: Ph, 4-Me-C<sub>6</sub>H<sub>4</sub>, 4-Cl-C<sub>6</sub>H<sub>4</sub>, PhCH<sub>2</sub>, *n*Bu

Scheme 6. Non-catalyzed Strecker reaction in acetonitrile as solvent.

Within this context, it has been reported<sup>20</sup> that the synthesis of  $\alpha$ -amino nitriles from aldehydes, amines, and trimethylsilyl cyanide is catalyzed by the presence of 2,4,6-trichloro-1,3,5-triazine (TCT) **5**. The authors invoked the in situ formation of cyanuric acid **6**, which would activate the imine through hydrogen-bonding interactions as depicted in Scheme 7. Compound **5** is known to react with emerging water (from imine formation) to furnish **6**. The authors confirmed the complete failure of the reaction under strictly anhydrous conditions and corroborated that only the corresponding intermediate imines were isolated upon catalytic addition of HCl and in the absence of TCT **5**. These experiments, however, do not seem sufficient to confirm whether the observed catalytic activity was a consequence of either the incipient water as reported by Yus and co-workers<sup>19</sup> or the cyanuric acid formed in situ.



Scheme 7. Proposed catalytic activity for cyanuric acid 15.

The catalytic effect of the water formed in situ after generation of the imine had already been reported by Gibson and co-worker 15 years ago.<sup>21</sup> Thus, it seems clear that by choosing the appropriate solvent (acetonitrile) it is not necessary to add any additional catalyst.

#### 2.2. Protonated ammonium salts

Protonated organic catalysts offer great scope for a variety of organic reactions.<sup>22</sup> Commercially available guanidine hydrochloride **7** has been reported as a remarkable catalyst for the threecomponent Strecker reaction.<sup>23</sup> A great variety of aliphatic and aromatic aldehydes and amines can be used to furnish the corresponding  $\alpha$ -amino nitriles in excellent chemical yields (Scheme 8).

Corey and co-worker<sup>24</sup> have demonstrated the utility of a chiral bicyclic guanidine as a catalyst for the hydrocyanation of arylimines (Scheme 9).

The guanidine **8** is, on its own, catalytically inactive and requires the action of HCN, added in a twofold excess, to give an active protonated complex, which acts as a bifunctional catalyst by also activating the imine through a hydrogen-bonding interaction. The cyanide attack was proposed to take place within the ion pair on **9**, providing a good enantioselectivity as a consequence of the  $\pi$ -stacking between a phenyl group of the catalyst and the benzhydryl protecting group of the imine (Fig. 1). Further DFT calculations<sup>25</sup> demonstrated that two competitive pathways to amino nitriles could be invoked: (i) isomerization of HCN to HNC and then addition to imine and (ii) addition of HCN to imine to provide an intermediate amino isonitrile, which isomerizes to the final  $\alpha$ -amino nitrile.



Scheme 8. Strecker reaction catalyzed by guanidine hydrochloride 7.

	Phun		-Ph	
Ph I	Ň	Ň		Ph I
N Ph	8 (	10 mol%	) HN	Ph
R <sup>/I</sup> H	HCN (2.0	0 eq), to	luene R	CN
R	<i>T</i> (°C)	t (h)	Yield (%)	ee (%)
Ph	-40	20	96	86
Ph	-20	8	99	82
4-Me-C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>4</sub>	-40	20	96	80
3,5-diMe-C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>3</sub>	-40	16	96	79
2-Me-C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>4</sub>	-20	12	88	50
4- <i>t</i> Bu-C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>4</sub>	-40	72	80	85
4-TBSO-C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>4</sub>	-40	38	98	88
4-MeO-C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>4</sub>	-40	28	99	84
$4-F-C_6H_4$	-40	23	97	86
4-CI-C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>4</sub>	-20	20	88	81
1-naphthyl	-20	12	90	76

Schomo Q	Asymmetric	hydrocypation of in	nines catalyzed by 8
scheme 9.	Asymmetric	Inverocvanation of in	nnes catalyzed by <b>b</b> .



Figure 1. Model for activation of compound 9.

The crystalline stable trifluoroacetate **10** acted as an excellent catalyst for the Strecker reaction of *N*-allyl aromatic aldimines **11** (Scheme 10).<sup>26</sup>



Scheme 10. Enantioselective Strecker reaction of N-allyl imines.

In this case, the *N*-allyl derivatives led to higher enantioselectivities than the corresponding *N*-benzyl compounds. In contrast to the reaction illustrated in Scheme 9 the best solvent was found to be dichloromethane, with toluene giving rise to much lower ees of  $\alpha$ -amino nitriles. This observation is in agreement with an enzymelike model, which invokes the formation of a U-shaped binding pocket contributing to hold the aldehyde-derived part of the aldimine. Further support for this model is given by the fact that aliphatic aldimines, particularly those with bulky groups unable of interacting with the pocket, led to poor enantioselectivities.

#### 2.3. Ureas and thioureas

Jacobsen and co-worker developed certain ureas and thioureas as catalysts for the asymmetric Strecker reaction by screening parallel synthetic libraries on solid phase.<sup>27</sup> After validating the best results by the preparation of soluble analogues,<sup>28</sup> the urea **12** emerged as the most efficient catalyst, even at loadings of 2 mol %. Both aldimines<sup>29</sup> and ketimines<sup>30</sup> gave rise to excellent enantio-selectivities (Scheme 11).

The presence of bulky substituents at both the amino acid position and at the 3-position of the salicylimine moiety is crucial for achieving a high enantioselectivity. Structural and mechanistic studies including isotope shift experiments also demonstrated that only the two urea hydrogens of **12** interacted with the imine. Moreover, several dedicated experimental observations clearly indicated the *Z*-isomer as that involved in the substrate–catalyst complex. Both NMR experiments and DFT calculations allowed the determination of a detailed 3-D structure of the substrate-bound complex<sup>31</sup> and the design of thiourea catalysts **13** and **14** as much more efficient organic catalysts for the hydrocyanation of imines. A comparison between *ent*-**12** and **13** for selected substrates using only 1 mol% of catalyst clearly demonstrated the benefits and synthetic utility of using thiourea catalysts (Scheme 12).<sup>31</sup>



Scheme 11. Hydrocyanation of imines catalyzed by urea 12.

The above-mentioned NMR studies showed that the imine is activated through hydrogen-bonding interactions with both urea hydrogens adopting a perpendicular disposition to the (thio)urea plane (Fig. 2).

Modifications to the amide bond and urea moieties as well as variations of the amino acid confirmed the optimal results for catalysts **13** and **14**.<sup>32</sup> Thiourea **14** was shown to be efficient with both aromatic and aliphatic aldimines.<sup>27</sup> Following the seminal work of Jacobsen, novel bifunctional catalysts **15** bearing both a thiourea moiety and an imidazole unit were prepared (Fig. 3).<sup>33</sup> However, poor enantioselectivities were observed with aromatic aldimines.



Scheme 12. Comparison between Jacobsen's urea and thiourea catalysts.



Figure 2. Proposed model for (thio)urea hydrogen-bonding interactions.



Figure 3. Imidazole-derived thioureas.

The urea **16** developed by Kunz and co-workers proved to be an efficient catalyst for a variety of aromatic *N*-allyl aldimines (Scheme 13).<sup>34</sup>

In order to avoid the use of the volatile and highly toxic HCN, List and co-workers developed the catalytic acylcyanation of imines using acyl cyanides and the thiourea **27** (Scheme 14).<sup>16</sup> The same authors described the asymmetric version of the reaction, the best results being obtained with Jacobsen's thiourea **23**, although only acylcyanation of *N*-benzyl benzaldimine **7** was reported.<sup>17</sup>

Thiourea **17** also catalyzed the three-component Strecker reaction, as shown in Scheme 15.<sup>35</sup> Notably, an important background contribution was present in the reaction since a conversion of up to 42% was observed in the absence of any catalyst. On the other hand, the reaction led to good conversions for both aromatic and aliphatic aldehydes, thus showing a broad scope by using mild reaction conditions.

The same group developed the enantioselective version of the reaction by using thiourea **20** as a catalyst.<sup>36</sup> Both aromatic and aliphatic amidonitriles were prepared in excellent yields and enantioselectivities from the corresponding aldehydes, benzylamine, and acetyl cyanide by using 5 mol% of catalyst **20** (Scheme 16).



R <sup>1</sup>	$R^2$	Yield (%)	ee (%)
2-Me-C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>4</sub>	allyl	81	69
3-Me-C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>4</sub>	allyl	93	78
4-Me-C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>4</sub>	allyl	83	75
2-MeO-C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>4</sub>	allyl	98	64
3-MeO-C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>4</sub>	allyl	96	66
4-MeO-C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>4</sub>	allyl	79	82
2-Br-C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>4</sub>	allyl	79	72
3-Br-C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>4</sub>	allyl	83	74
4-Br-C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>4</sub>	allyl	77	84
4- <sup>t</sup> Bu-C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>4</sub>	allyl	82	84
$4-NO_2-C_6H_4$	allyl	67	0
2-furfuryl	allyl	87	50
1-naphthyl	allyl	78	80
2-naphthyl	allyl	73	76
cyclohexyl	benzyl	60	47
Ph	$4\text{-}Br\text{-}C_6H_4CH_2$	63	50
Ph	allyl	72	84

Scheme 13. Hydrocyanation of aldimines catalyzed by urea 26.



Scheme 14. Acylcyanation of imines catalyzed by thioureas.



Scheme 15. Three-component Strecker reaction catalyzed by thiourea 17.



R <sup>1</sup>	R <sup>2</sup>	Yield (%)	ee (%)
Ph	PhCH <sub>2</sub>	94	94
4-MeO-C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>4</sub>	PhCH <sub>2</sub>	88	92
4-CI-C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>4</sub>	PhCH <sub>2</sub>	78	92
2-naphthyl	PhCH <sub>2</sub>	92	94
(E)-PhCH=CH	PhCH <sub>2</sub>	82	92
<i>i</i> Pr	PhCH <sub>2</sub>	92	92
<i>t</i> Bu	PhCH <sub>2</sub>	46	94
<i>n</i> Bu	PhCH <sub>2</sub>	75	92
tBuCH <sub>2</sub>	PhCH <sub>2</sub>	97	94
Ph	4-MeO-C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>4</sub> CH <sub>2</sub>	95	94
Ph	4-CI-C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>4</sub> CH <sub>2</sub>	93	94
Ph	1-naphthyICH <sub>2</sub>	92	94
Ph	2-furyICH <sub>2</sub>	83	80
Ph	Allyl	88	92
Ph	<i>n</i> pentyl	76	74

Scheme 16. Enantioselective three-component Strecker reaction catalyzed by thiourea 20.

Ureas and thioureas have also been used to catalyze the nucleophilic addition of trimethylsilyl cyanide to nitrones.<sup>37</sup> The best results were observed with thiourea **17**. Although the reaction showed a considerable background contribution a marked

acceleration in the formation of the products was observed in the presence of 0.5 equiv of **17** (Scheme 17).



<sup>a</sup>values in parentheses correspond to reaction in absence of catalyst **Scheme 17.** Organocatalyzed TMSCN addition to nitrones.

#### 2.4. Other H-bonding catalysts

One of the earliest works, published in 1996, on the organocatalyzed Strecker reaction used the diketopiperazine **22** as a chiral catalyst (Scheme 18).<sup>38</sup> By using **22** some variation was observed in the enantioselectivity, depending on the substrate. Whereas the hydrocyanation of aromatic aldimines took place generally with high enantiomeric excess, giving rise to (*S*)- $\alpha$ -amino nitriles **23**, the presence of electron-withdrawing groups at the aromatic ring led to essentially racemic products (Scheme 18). A similar trend was

N <sup></sup> Ph	Ph O 22	2 (2 mol%)	HŊ́́Ph			
RH	HCN, M	eOH	RCN			
R	<i>T</i> (°C)	Yield (%)	ee (%)			
Ph	-25	97	>99			
4-CI-C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>4</sub>	-25	97	83			
4-CI-C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>4</sub>	-75	94	>99			
4-MeO-C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>4</sub>	-75	90	96			
3-CI-C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>4</sub>	-75	80	>99			
3-MeO-C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>4</sub>	-75	82	80			
3-NO <sub>2</sub> -C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>4</sub>	-75	71	<10			
3-pyridyl	-75	86	<10			
2-furyl	-75	94	32			
<i>i</i> Pr	-75	81	<10			
<i>t</i> Bu	-75	80	17			

Scheme 18. Asymmetric Strecker reaction catalyzed by 22.

also observed for aliphatic imines as well as those derived from pyridine and furan. Although NMR experiments did not demonstrate deuterium exchange, the authors did not discard racemization of the final product via rapid reversibility of HCN addition.

TADDOL **23**, which is an excellent ligand for metal-based asymmetric catalysis,<sup>39</sup> is per se an organic catalyst for the hydrocyanation of aromatic *N*-benzyl imines (Scheme 19).<sup>15</sup> As illustrated in Scheme 19, some enantioselection could be observed, the use of other benzyl protecting groups resulting in a loss of selectivity. Even though the observed ees were low, these results were of interest since they constituted the first example of an enantioselective Strecker reaction catalyzed by a diol.



Scheme 19. Hydrocyanation of imines catalyzed by TADDOL 51.

 $C_2$ -symmetric chiral non-racemic bisformamide **24** catalyzed the three-component Strecker reaction, furnishing  $\alpha$ -amino nitriles in excellent yields and good enantioselectivities (Scheme 20).<sup>40</sup>

		Ph HN-40	
$R \stackrel{O}{\vdash} H^{+} H_2 N \stackrel{Ph}{\swarrow} H^{+} Ph$	N H H 24 (10 r TMSC dichloroetha	Mol%) CN, ine, -20 °C	Ph HN Ph R CN
R	time (h)	Yield (%)	ee (%)
Ph	10	99	81
4-Me-C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>4</sub>	10	98	84
2-Me-C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>4</sub>	10	99	80
3-Me-C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>4</sub>	10	97	76
4-MeO-C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>4</sub>	10	96	85
3-MeO-C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>4</sub>	14	97	76
4-CI-C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>4</sub>	50	98	83
3-CI-C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>4</sub>	60	74	73
2-CI-C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>4</sub>	50	81	75
4-Br-C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>4</sub>	60	85	86
4-Ph-C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>4</sub>	14	94	86
2-naphthyl	50	75	81
<i>t</i> Bu	14	92	73
2-furyl	14	94	43

Scheme 20. Organocatalytic acylcyanation of imines.



Figure 4. Transition structure for hydrocyanation catalyzed by bisformamide 24.

Optimization of the reaction conditions including solvent effects, catalyst loading, molar ratio, and concentration showed compound **24** to efficiently catalyze the reaction (Scheme 20).

The observed enantioselectivity can be explained on the basis of the invoked transition structure **25** (Fig. 4) in which the in situgenerated imine is activated by a hydrogen bond through the imine nitrogen coordinating to the amide hydrogen, and the trimethylsilyl cyanide is activated by two oxygens coordinated to silicon. The bifunctional role exerted by catalyst **53** through transition structure **54** is supported by DFT calculations.

The addition of trimethylsilyl cyanide to imines in water is catalyzed by  $\beta$ -cyclodextrin **26** (Scheme 21).<sup>41</sup>

R <sup>3</sup>	β-cyclo	dextrin (10 mol	%) н	N <sup>-</sup> R <sup>3</sup>		
N <sup>T</sup>	26		→ _1/			
$R^1 R^2$	Т	MSCN, H <sub>2</sub> O	R'	$R^{1}$ $R^{2}$		
R <sup>1</sup>	R <sup>2</sup>	R <sup>3</sup>	t (h)	Yield (%)		
Ph	Н	Ph	1	98		
Ph	Н	4-F-C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>4</sub>	1	98		
Ph	н	2-Me-C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>4</sub>	1	96		
Ph	Н	2-MeO-C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>4</sub>	1	95		
Ph	н	PhCH <sub>2</sub>	1.5	92		
4-Br-C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>4</sub>	Н	Ph	1	98		
4-CI-C6H <sub>4</sub>	н	$4-F-C_6H_4$	1	98		
4-Me-C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>4</sub>	Н	Ph	1	96		
4-Me-C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>4</sub>	Н	Tosyl	1	94		
2,4,6-tri-Me-C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>2</sub>	Н	Ph	1	94		
4-MeO-C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>4</sub>	Н	Ph	1	96		
2,4-di-MeO-C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>3</sub>	Н	Ph	1	94		
4-allyloxy-C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>4</sub>	Н	Ph	1	95		
4-NO <sub>2</sub> -C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>4</sub>	Н	Ph	2	90		
(E)-PhCH=CH	Н	Ph	2	90		
1-naphthyl	Н	4-F-C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>4</sub>	1	92		
2-naphthyl	Н	Ph	1	95		
<i>n</i> decyl	Н	Ph	2	90		
Ph	Me	Ph	2	94		
4-Me-C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>4</sub>	Me	Ph	2	94		
2-naphthyl	Me	Ph	2	92		
cyclohexyl	Me	Ph	2	90		

**Scheme 21.** Hydrocyanation of imines catalyzed by β-cyclodextrin **26**.

The activation of the imine is postulated to occur through hydrogen-bonding of a cyclodextrin hydroxyl with the imine nitrogen. The reaction showed a broad scope with aromatic aldimines and ketimines. Some variation of the nitrogen protecting group was also possible. Similarly, some microbial carbohydrates, such as  $\alpha$ -cyclosophorohexadecaose ( $\alpha$ -C16) **27** derived from *Xanthomona* sp. and succinoglycan monomers **28a–c** derived from *Rhizobium* sp., acted as catalysts in the double trimethylsilylcyanation of malonaldehyde bis(phenylimine) (Scheme 22).<sup>42</sup>



Glc:D-Glucose; Gal:D-Galactose; Ac: acetyl; Succ: Succinyl; Pyr: Pyruvyl Scheme 22. Trimethylsilylcyanation of imines catalyzed by microbial carbohydrates.

The reaction proceeded in a mixture of methanol–water at 30 °C and furnished bis  $\alpha$ -amino nitriles in quantitative yield. Whereas the reaction catalyzed by  $\alpha$ -C16 **27** afforded racemic substrates, further studies with succinoglycan monomers **28b,c** having acetyl and succinyl groups as substituents led to lower chemical yields but moderate enantioselectivities (Scheme 23). Thus, it can be suggested that several types of carbohydrates could be further applied as environmentally friendly catalysts in the future.



Scheme 23. Trimethylsilylcyanation of imines catalyzed by succinoglycan monomers.

#### 3. Catalysis by Lewis bases

#### 3.1. N-Oxides

Chiral *N*-oxides have been used in catalytic asymmetric processes involving both metal-free and metal-containing reactions.<sup>43</sup> The use of stoichiometric amounts of chiral *N*-oxide **29** promoted the asymmetric reaction of several aromatic *N*-benzyl imines and trimethylsilyl cyanide (Scheme 24).<sup>44</sup> The enantioselectivity of the reaction appeared to be sensitive to the aryl substituent, since *R* or *S* enantiomers were obtained depending on the substrate. The enantiomeric excesses were only modest (37–73% ee).

Some optimization of the reaction conditions including temperature, imine concentration, ratio of imine to cyanating agent and amount of the promoter led to ee values of 95% in particular cases ( $R=2-Cl-C_6H_4$ ); however, no information about the obtained



Scheme 24. Hydrocyanation of imines promoted by N-oxide 29.

absolute configuration of the  $\alpha$ -amino nitriles was given.<sup>45</sup> The same authors reported the catalytic hydrocyanation of ketimines using 5 mol % of chiral *N*-oxide **30** at -20 °C. Under these conditions N-tosyl ketimines were converted into (S)- $\alpha$ -amino nitriles with moderate enantioselectivities (Scheme 25).



Scheme 25. Catalytic hydrocyanation of ketimines.

In this reaction a hydroquinone is used as an additive to achieve good conversion values and higher enantioselectivities. In particular, the sterically hindered 2,5-di-(1-adamantyl)hydroquinone (DAHQ) gave rise to the best results when used in a 20 mol% catalytic amount.<sup>46</sup> Notably, in addition to aromatic substrates, aliphatic compounds such as ketimines bearing cyclohexyl and tert-butyl groups also provided acceptable results in both chemical yield and enantiomeric excess.

A considerable increase of enantioselectivity in the hydrocyanation of ketimines was achieved when the chiral N,N'dioxide was generated in situ by oxidation with m-CPBA of the corresponding diamine **67**. In addition, the use of the *N*-diphenylphosphinoyl group also contributed to the enhancement of the enantioselectivity (Scheme 26).47



Scheme 26. Catalytic hydrocyanation of N-diphenylphosphinoyl ketimines.

The catalyst prepared in situ could be easily recovered and reused five times without any loss in catalytic activity or enantioselectivity. That the N,N'-dioxide was the actual catalyst was demonstrated because no reaction took place only in the presence of the diamine **31** (without *m*-CPBA) and identical results were obtained with the in situ-generated and the isolated N-oxide obtained from **31**. The *N*,*N*'-dioxide can act as a bifunctional catalyst by activating the ketoimine through hydrogen-bonding, thus controlling the reaction conformation. According to the model illustrated in Figure 5 the formation of the (R)-isomer is favored since the Si attack avoids steric repulsions between the phenyl phosphinoyl group and the bulky 1-adamantylamide.



Figure 5. Proposed model for catalytic activity of N,N'-dioxides.



Scheme 27. Synthesis of carbene 33.

The mechanism of the Strecker reaction catalyzed by chiral *N*-oxides has been investigated using DFT at the B3LYP/6-31G\* level.<sup>48</sup> These calculations indicated that two reaction pathways are comparable for both non-catalyzed and catalyzed processes. In the catalytic Strecker reaction, the silyl cyanide reagent is strongly activated by coordination of the oxygen atom to the silicon atom. The reason for such an activation is the strong electron-donating character of the N–O functionality.

ו R <sup>1′</sup>	N <sup>_Ts</sup> II R <sup>2</sup>	32 (5 mol tBuOK (4 r TMSCN (1	l%) nol%) .5 eq)	TsHN CN R <sup>1</sup> R <sup>2</sup>	
R <sup>1</sup>	R <sup>2</sup>	solvent	T(°C)	t (min)	Yield (%)
Ph	Н	THF	0	45	97
4-MeO-C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>4</sub>	н	THF	0	300	98
4-CI-C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>4</sub>	н	THF	0	30	84
1-naphthyl	н	THF	0	30	87
cyclohexyl	н	THF	0	60	87
1-phenethyl	н	THF	0	360	82
<i>t</i> BuCH <sub>2</sub>	н	THF	0	300	86
Ph	Me	DMF	rt	180	93
4-Me-C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>4</sub>	Me	DMF	rt	180	99
4-MeO-C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>4</sub>	Me	DMF	rt	60	59
Ph	Ph	DMF	rt	240	88
<i>i</i> Bu	<i>i</i> Bu	DMF	rt	5	94
<i>i</i> Pr	<i>i</i> Pr	DMF	rt	5	84
(E)-PhCH=CH	Ph	DMF	rt	120	98

Scheme 28. TMSCN addition to imines catalyzed by the heterocyclic carbene 33.

In addition to *N*,*N*'-dioxides, it has been reported that other Lewis bases such as the nitrogen- and oxygen-containing anions generated from imides or carboxylic acids catalyzed the Streckertype reaction between N-tosylimine and trimethylsilyl cyanide in water containing DMF.<sup>49</sup>

#### 3.2. Heterocyclic carbenes

Heterocyclic carbenes act as excellent organic catalysts in a variety of reactions including benzoin condensations, Stetter reactions, Diels–Alder reactions, 1,2-additions, and polymerizations.<sup>50</sup> Recently, Kondo and Aoyama have reported the first cyanation of aldimines<sup>51</sup> and ketimines<sup>52</sup> catalyzed by the *N*-heterocyclic carbene **33** prepared in situ from imidazole **32** and potassium *tert*-butoxide (Scheme 27).

Carbene **33** generated in situ from 5 mol % of **32**, catalyzed the addition of trimethylsilyl cyanide to imines, affording the corresponding  $\alpha$ -amino nitriles with excellent yields (Scheme 28). As expected, aldimines were more reactive than ketimines and, whereas the hydrocyanation of the former was carried out in THF at 0 °C, hydrocyanation of the latter worked better in DMF at room temperature.<sup>51,52</sup>

The active intermediate in the process was assumed to be the hypervalent silicate **34** formed from the carbene **33** and trime-thylsilyl cyanide (Scheme 29, cycle A). However, the formation of a trimethylsilylimidazolium species **35**, which would transfer the cyano group more efficiently while regenerating the carbene, could also be proposed. Moreover, an alternative mechanism based on the initial attack of the carbene **33** on the imine was also invoked, as illustrated in the catalytic cycle B depicted in Scheme 29.

#### 3.3. Amines and imines

Kunz and co-workers<sup>53</sup> reported the catalytic effect exerted by *N*-galactosyl[2,2]paracyclophane carbaldimines **36** in the Strecker reaction (Scheme 30). Good-to-excellent enantioselectivities were obtained when the reaction was conducted in the presence of 5–10 mol % of **36**. The best results were obtained by using 10 mol % of catalyst. Actually, catalysts **36** neither display hydrogen-bonding interactions per se nor Brønsted acid properties.

The catalyst effect of **36** arose from the Lewis basic center cooperatively formed by the imine nitrogen and the carbonyl oxygen of the 2-pivaloyl group, which could trap the proton from the weak acid HCN formed in situ from trimethylsilyl cyanide and methanol, as shown in the model **37** (Fig. 6).

The direct Strecker reaction using trimethylsilyl cyanide as a cyanating agent in the absence of any solvent afforded  $\alpha$ -amino nitriles in excellent yields.<sup>54</sup> It was considered that the active catalyst of the reaction was the amine employed in the three-component reaction (Scheme 31).



Scheme 29. Proposed organocatalytic cycles for carbenes.



 $R^1$ 

R <sup>1</sup>	R <sup>2</sup>	R <sup>3</sup>	catalyst 77 (mol%)	<i>T</i> (°C)	t (h)	Yield (%)	ee (%)
Ph	allyl	CO <sub>2</sub> Me	2	-50 to -20	20	55	71
4-Me-C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>4</sub>	allyl	Н	10	-50 to -20	20	68	67
<i>i</i> Pr	allyl	CO <sub>2</sub> Me	5	-50 to -20	30	20	96
cyclohexyl	PhCH <sub>2</sub>	CO <sub>2</sub> Me	5	-50 to -20	30	88	65
<i>i</i> Pr	allyl	CO <sub>2</sub> Me	10	-50	24	89	96
cyclohexyl	PhCH <sub>2</sub>	CO <sub>2</sub> Me	10	-50	24	87	88
isoamyl	PhCH <sub>2</sub>	CO <sub>2</sub> Me	10	-50	24	84	99
4-MeO-C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>4</sub>	PhCH <sub>2</sub>	CO <sub>2</sub> Me	10	-50	24	87	82

Scheme 30. Strecker reaction catalyzed by cyclophane derivatives 77.

		R <sup>4</sup>
0 II	R <sup>3</sup> NHR <sup>4</sup> (1.05 eq)	
$R^1 R^2$	TMSCN (1.05 eq)	R <sup>™</sup> 'R <sup>2</sup>

R <sup>1</sup>	R <sup>2</sup>	R <sup>3</sup>	R <sup>4</sup>	t (min)	Yield (%)
Ph	Н	Ph	Н	3	99
Ph	н	4-MeO-C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>4</sub>	Н	7	99
Ph	н	PhCH <sub>2</sub>	н	3	99
Ph	н	allyl	н	3	99
Ph	н	PhCH <sub>2</sub>	н	3	99
Ph	н	PhCH <sub>2</sub>	PhCH <sub>2</sub>	10	98
Ph	н	PhCH <sub>2</sub>	Ме	10	95
Ph	н	pyrrolidin-1-yl		5	98
4-CI-C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>4</sub>	н	PhCH <sub>2</sub>	PhCH <sub>2</sub>	5	93
(E)-PhCH=CH	н	Ph	н	5	98
(E)-PhCH=CH	н	PhCH <sub>2</sub>	н	3	99
(E)-PhCH=CH	н	PhCH <sub>2</sub>	PhCH <sub>2</sub>	12	90
(E)-Me(CH <sub>2</sub> ) <sub>4</sub> CH=CH	н	PhCH <sub>2</sub>	Н	5	95
<i>i</i> Pr	н	Ph	н	3	99
<i>i</i> Pr	н	PhCH <sub>2</sub>	н	3	99
<i>i</i> Pr	н	PhCH <sub>2</sub>	PhCH <sub>2</sub>	15	74
PhCH <sub>2</sub> CH <sub>2</sub>	н	PhCH <sub>2</sub>	н	10	98
Ph	Me	PhCH <sub>2</sub>	н	35	21
Et	Et	PhCH <sub>2</sub>	н	18	77
-(CH <sub>2</sub> ) <sub>4</sub> -		PhCH <sub>2</sub>	н	13	98
-(CH <sub>2</sub> ) <sub>2</sub> C( <i>t</i> Bu)(CH <sub>2</sub> ) <sub>2</sub> -		PhCH <sub>2</sub>	н	12	97
-(CH <sub>2</sub> )O(CH <sub>2</sub> ) <sub>2</sub> -		PhCH <sub>2</sub>	н	9	99
-(CH <sub>2</sub> )S(CH <sub>2</sub> ) <sub>2</sub> -		PhCH <sub>2</sub>	н	11	98

Scheme 31. Strecker reaction under solvent-free conditions.



Figure 6. Proposed model 37 for catalytic effect of 36.

As expected, aldehydes reacted faster than ketones. Indeed, only cyclic ketones afforded the corresponding  $\alpha$ -amino nitriles under these conditions. The reaction showed a broad scope since both aromatic and aliphatic aldehydes were used as well as aromatic and aliphatic amines.

The cyanation of *N*-acylhydrazones with trimethylsilyl cyanide was reported by Kobayashi and co-workers, who used aliphatic amines as organic catalysts (Scheme 32).<sup>55</sup> The authors reported the use of stoichiometric amounts of amine, although it was reported in one case that 0.1 equiv of amine could also be used by increasing the reaction time to 168 h without significant loss of chemical yield.

0 Ph N <sup>NH</sup> $\mathbb{R}^1$ $\mathbb{R}^2$	Et <sub>3</sub> N (1 eq) TMSCN (1.5 eq) CH <sub>2</sub> Cl <sub>2</sub> , r.t., 24 h	$HN Ph$ $HN CN$ $R^{1} R^{2}$
R <sup>1</sup>	R <sup>2</sup>	Yield (%)
PhCH <sub>2</sub> CH <sub>2</sub>	Н	77
<i>n</i> heptyl	Н	97
<i>i</i> Bu	н	87
<i>i</i> Pr	н	92
cyclohexyl	Н	82
<i>t</i> Bu	Н	62
PhCH <sub>2</sub> CH <sub>2</sub>	Me	60
	-(CH <sub>2</sub> ) <sub>5</sub> -	94
Ph	Н	2
PhC≡C	Н	nr
(E)-PhCH=CH	Н	nr
	nr: no reaction observ	ed

Scheme 32. Hydrocyanation of hydrazones promoted by Et<sub>3</sub>N.

Investigation of the substrate scope showed that aliphatic hydrazones reacted smoothly to afford the corresponding adducts in moderate-to-high yields. However, aromatic and  $\alpha$ , $\beta$ -unsaturated aldehyde-derived hydrazones remained almost intact resulting in the recovery of starting material.

Basic ammonium salts containing a tertiary amine in their structure, such as **38** are effective catalysts for the three-component Strecker reaction.<sup>56</sup> By using 0.5 mol% of **38** the corresponding  $\alpha$ -amino nitriles are obtained from both aromatic and aliphatic aldehydes using *p*-anisidine and trimethylsilyl cyanide as nitrogen and cyanide sources, respectively (Scheme 33).

#### 4. Phase-transfer catalysis

In 1990 Chiba and Okimoto highlighted the feasibility of applying phase-transfer catalysis to the addition of hydrogen cyanide to



Scheme 33. Organocatalytic hydrocyanation catalyzed by basic ammonium salt 38.

*N*-substituted hydrazones.<sup>57</sup> Ketone benzoyl-, tosyl-, and methoxy-carbonyl-hydrazones added HCN generated in situ from sodium cyanide and acetic acid in a two-phase system in the presence of a catalytic amount of trioctylammonium chloride (TOMAC) (Scheme 34).

R <sup>17</sup>	R <sup>3</sup> N <sup>™</sup> R <sup>2</sup>	TOMA AcOH, N H <sub>2</sub> O-hexa	AC ⊢ laCN ⊢ ane, rt F	$\mathbb{IN}^{\mathbb{R}^3}$ $\mathbb{IN}$ CN $\mathbb{R}^1 - \mathbb{R}^2$	
R <sup>1</sup>	R <sup>2</sup>	R <sup>3</sup>	Catalyst (mol%)	time (h)	Yield (%)
<i>i</i> Bu	Me	COPh	10	2	92
<i>t</i> Bu	Me	COPh	20	6	79
<i>i</i> Pr	<i>i</i> Pr	COPh	40	21	79
-(CH <sub>2</sub> ) <sub>4</sub> -		COPh	20	2	80
1-norbornar	nylene	COPh	10	5	94
<i>n</i> Pr	<i>n</i> Pr	Ts	10	2	80
<i>n</i> Pr	<i>n</i> Pr	CO <sub>2</sub> Me	20	8	83
-(CH <sub>2</sub> ) <sub>5</sub> -		CO <sub>2</sub> Me	10	2	92
Ph	Ме	COPh	40	21	92

Scheme 34. Phase-transfer-catalyzed hydrocyanation of hydrazones.

*N*-Boc imines generated in situ from *N*-Boc  $\alpha$ -amido sulfones **39** underwent cyanide addition in 2-propanol or dichloromethane–water under phase-transfer conditions.<sup>58</sup> Tetrabutylammonium

hydrogen sulfate and benzyltriethyl-ammonium chloride were effective catalysts affording the corresponding *N*-Boc- $\alpha$ -amino nitriles in good yields (Scheme 35). Two equivalents of potassium cyanide were necessary, presumably because one equivalent acted as a base for generating the reactive intermediate *N*-Boc imine.

NH 1	Boc Bu <sub>4</sub> NHS	SO <sub>4</sub> (10 mol%)	IHBoc
R	SO <sub>2</sub> Ph K	CN (2 eq) R	CN
39	<b>)</b>	2, 1120, 1.1., 5 11	
R	Yield (%)	R	Yield (%)
Ph	73	2-MeO- C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>4</sub>	74
4-Me-C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>4</sub>	82	1-naphthyl	80
4- <i>i</i> Pr- C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>4</sub>	79	2-furyl	84
4- <i>t</i> Bu- C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>4</sub>	78	2-thienyl	84
4-CI- C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>4</sub>	84	<i>n</i> Pr	78
4-Br- C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>4</sub>	83	<i>i</i> Pr	81
3-OH- C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>4</sub>	81	<i>s</i> Bu	81
4-NO <sub>2</sub> - C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>4</sub>	55	<i>n</i> pentyl	79
3-NO <sub>2</sub> - C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>4</sub>	36	<i>n</i> undecyl	88
2-NO <sub>2</sub> - C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>4</sub>	47	<i>t</i> Bu	82
4-CN- C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>4</sub>	42	PhCH <sub>2</sub> CH <sub>2</sub>	81
4-F- C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>4</sub>	83	Ph(CH <sub>2</sub> ) <sub>3</sub>	82
$4\text{-MeO-} \text{C}_6\text{H}_4$	79	cyclohexyl	85
3-MeO- C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>4</sub>	82		

**Scheme 35.** Hydrocyanation of *N*-Boc-α-amido sulfones.

The reaction showed a broad scope since aromatic, aliphatic, and heteroaromatic compounds could be used giving in all cases good chemical yields. The same authors explored the asymmetric version of the reaction (for R=Ph) using 10 mol% of *N*-benzyl cinchonidinium chloride **40** as a catalyst. Unfortunately, the corresponding amino nitrile was obtained as a racemic mixture.<sup>58</sup>



On the other hand, Ricci and Herrera<sup>59</sup> have exploited the modified quinidinium-type phase-transfer catalyst **41** in the catalytic asymmetric preparation of (*S*)-*N*-Boc amino nitriles in up to 88% ee (Scheme 36). These authors employed a cyanide source acetone cyanohydrins, which played a crucial role not only in cyanide transfer but also in generating the imine from precursor **39** at the interface.

According to this hypothesis the catalytic cycle illustrated in Scheme 37 was proposed. The conjugate base of the cyanohydrins might form with the chiral catalyst a lipophilic ion pair that released the first cyanide ion responsible for the imine formation (path A). In the presence of the imine the ion pair delivered a second cyanide ion to the imine carbon leading to the product of the reaction (path B).

Maruoka and co-workers reported the asymmetric Strecker reaction of aldimines using aqueous potassium cyanide by the chiral quaternary ammonium salt **42** bearing a tetranaphthyl backbone.<sup>60</sup>



**Scheme 36.** Asymmetric phase-transfer-catalyzed synthesis of enantioenriched  $\alpha$ -amino nitriles.



**Scheme 37.** Catalytic cycle for the phase-transfer-catalyzed Strecker reaction of  $\alpha$ -amino sulfones and acetone cyanohydrins.

By using the catalyst **42**  $\alpha$ -amino nitriles of (*S*)-configuration were obtained in excellent chemical yields and enantioselectivities with a catalyst loading of only 1 mol % (Scheme 38).

By using the same biphasic reaction conditions, *N*-arylsulfonyl- $\alpha$ -amino nitriles were obtained with excellent enantioselectivities from the corresponding  $\alpha$ -amido sulfones, through a process involving the in situ generation of the reactive *N*-sulfonylimines.



**Scheme 38.** Asymmetric hydrocyanation of  $\alpha$ -amido sulfones via phase-transfer catalysis using catalyst **42**.

Both mesitylenesulfonyl (Mts) and 4-methoxy-2,3,6-trimethylbenzenesulfonyl (Mtr) groups were evaluated as suitable protecting groups. In both cases, very good results were obtained with primary and secondary alkyl substituents (Scheme 39).<sup>60</sup>

	42 (1 mol%)			NHR <sup>2</sup>	
R <sup>1</sup> 30 <sub>2</sub> <i>p</i> -10	2 M KCN (aq) R1 `CN toluene-H <sub>2</sub> O, 0 °C				
R <sup>1</sup>	R <sup>2</sup>	t (h)	Yield (%)	ee (%)	
cyclohexyl	Mts	1.5	99	97	
cyclooctyl	Mts	2	99	98	
<i>i</i> Pr	Mts	1.5	99	97	
N-Cbz-piperidin-4-yl	Mts	1	99	99	
PhCH <sub>2</sub> CH <sub>2</sub>	Mts	1	99	94	
(Me) <sub>2</sub> CHCH <sub>2</sub>	Mts	1	96	91	
$Me(CH_2)_5CH_2$	Mts	1	96	84	
PhCH <sub>2</sub>	Mts	1	93	85	
PhCH <sub>2</sub> CH <sub>2</sub>	Mtr	1	98	96	
(Me) <sub>2</sub> CHCH <sub>2</sub>	Mtr	1	99	93	
Me(CH <sub>2</sub> ) <sub>5</sub> CH <sub>2</sub>	Mtr	1	96	89	
PhCH <sub>2</sub>	Mtr	1	86	86	

Scheme 39. Hydrocyanation of N-sulfonylimines generated in situ.

The direct trimethylsilyl cyanide addition to imines in water was catalyzed by polyethylene glycol (PEG), which acted as thermally stable and recoverable medium for phase-transfer catalysis (Scheme 40).<sup>61</sup> The reaction showed a wide scope since both aromatic and aliphatic imines were prepared and the catalyst could be recovered and reutilized. With high chemical yields, the reaction is a good example of the use of an environmentally friendly process.

F	$\mathbb{R}^{1} \mathbb{R}^{2}$	PEG, H <sub>2</sub> O, r. TMSCN	$\stackrel{\text{HN}^{R^3}}{\longrightarrow} R^1 \stackrel{\text{R}^3}{\longleftarrow} R^2$	
R <sup>1</sup>	R	<sup>2</sup> R <sup>3</sup>	t (h)	Yield (%)
Ph	Н	Ph	3	94
Ph	н	4-F-C <sub>6</sub>	H <sub>4</sub> 3	94
Ph	н	2-Me-C	C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>4</sub> 5	88
$4\text{-Br-C}_6\text{H}_4$	н	Ph	3	92
4-CI-C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>4</sub>	н	4-F-C <sub>6</sub>	H <sub>4</sub> 3	94
4-Me-C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>4</sub>	н	Ph	3	90
4-Me-C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>4</sub>	н	Tosyl	3	90
2,4,6-tri-Me-C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>2</sub>	н	Ph	3.5	88
4-MeO-C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>4</sub>	Н	Ph	3	90
2,4-di-MeO-C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>4</sub>	Н	Ph	3.5	86
4-allyloxy-C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>4</sub>	н	Ph	3.5	90
4-NO <sub>2</sub> -C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>4</sub>	н	Ph	5	84
(E)-PhCH=CH	н	Ph	5	82
2-naphthyl	Н	Ph	3	90
C <sub>10</sub> H <sub>21</sub>	н	Ph	5	85
Ph	М	e Ph	4	88
4-Me-C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>4</sub>	M	e Ph	4.5	86

Scheme 40. Addition of TMSCN to imines catalyzed by PEG.

#### 5. Conclusions

The increasing interest in highly enantioselective synthetic strategies observed over the past years has needed effective methods for securing the production of enantiomerically pure molecules through environmentally friendly approaches. In this respect the renewed interest in organic catalysis is beyond any doubt. A large number of organic reactions are catalyzed by small organic molecules and the Strecker reaction represents a good example of the various possibilities offered by organocatalysis including catalysis by organic Brønsted acids, Lewis bases, and phase-transfer catalysis. A number of organocatalyzed syntheses of  $\alpha$ -amino nitriles through the Strecker reaction have been developed in recent years. Optically active  $\alpha$ -amino nitriles are useful intermediates for preparing *α*-amino acids and their utility is illustrated in numerous reports. As seen in some of the examples described herein, the various approaches can be considered complementary, e.g., between aromatic and aliphatic substrates, but subtle changes in the catalyst can significantly affect the stereochemical outcome of the reaction. Because of this, it is expected that the design and synthesis of new catalysts in the future will be more efficient in both reactivity and selectivity. Indeed, although in several instances organic catalysts could be used in substoichiometric amounts (e.g., 20-30 mol%), several examples illustrated in this compilation demonstrated that it is also possible to achieve good results with loadings of 1 mol %. Given the already high number of successful applications of organocatalysis we are sure that new highly efficient organic catalysts will be developed for the Strecker reaction.

#### Acknowledgements

We thank the Ministry of Science and Education (MEC, Madrid, Spain, Project CTQ2007-67532-C02-01) for financial support of our research. R.P.H. thanks the Aragón I+D Foundation for a contract and E.M.L. thanks Professor Dr. Mathias Christmann for a postdoctoral contract.

#### **References and notes**

- 1. (a) Dalko, P. I.: Moisan, L. Angew, Chem., Int. Ed. 2004, 43, 5138-5175; (b) Pellisier, H. Tetrahedron **2007**, 63, 9267–9331; (c) List, B. Synlett **2001**, 1675– 1686; (d) Dalko, P. I.; Moisan, L. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2001, 40, 3726-3748; (e) Seavad, J.; List, B. Org. Biomol. Chem. 2005, 3, 719–724.
- 2. (a) Enantioselective Organocatalysis; Dalko, P. I., Ed.; Wiley-VCH: Weinheim, 2007; (b) Asymmetric Synthesis; Berkessel, A., Gröger, H., Eds.; Wiley-VCH: Weinheim, 2005; (c) Lelais, G.; MacMillan, D. W. C. In New Frontiers in Asymmetric Catalysis; Mikami, K., Lutens, M., Eds.; John Wiley & Sons: Hoboken, NJ, 2007; pp 313-358.
- 3. Special issues on organocatalysis have been published in: (a) Acc. Chem. Res. 2004, 37, 487-631; (b) Chem. Rev. 2007, 107, 5416-5853; (c) Adv. Synth. Catal. 2004. 346. 1022-1249.
- (a) Guillena, G.; Najera, C.; Ramon, D. J. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 2007, 18, 2249-4 2293; (b) Mukherjee, S.; Yang, J. W.; Hoffmann, S.; List, B. Chem. Rev. 2007, 107, 5471-5569
- 5. Guillena, G.; Ramon, D. J.; Yus, M. A. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 2007, 18, 693-700.
- 6. (a) Ting, A.; Schaus, S. E. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2007, 5797-5815; (b) Verkade, J. M. M.; van Hemert, L. J. C.; Quaedflieg, P. J. L. M.; Rudges, F. P. J. T. Chem. Soc. Rev. 2007, 37, 29–41; (c) Cordova, A. Acc. Chem. Res. 2004, 37, 102–112.
- 7. Almasi, D.; Alonso, D. A.; Najera, C. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 2007, 18, 299-365.
- 8. (a) Guillena, G.; Ramon, D. J. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 2006, 17, 1465-1492; (b) Janey, J. M. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2005, 44, 4292-4300; (c) Pihko, P. M. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2006, 45, 544-547; (d) Merino, P.; Tejero, T. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2004, 43, 2995-2997.
- 9 Kunz, H. In Stereoselective Synthesis; Helmchen, G., Hoffmann, R. W., Mulzer, J., Schaumann, E., Eds.; Georg Thieme: Stuttgart, 1995; Vol. E21b, pp 1931-1952.
- 10. For general reviews on the synthesis of  $\alpha$ -amino acids see: (a) Najera, C.; Sansano, J. M. Chem. Rev. 2007, 107, 4584-4671; (b) Perdih, A.; Dolenc, M. S. Curr. Org. Chem. 2007, 1, 801-832; (c) Ma, J.-A. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2003, 42, 4290-4299; (d) Duthaler, R. O. Tetrahedron 1994, 50, 1539-1650; (e) Williams, R. W.; Hendrix, J. A. Chem. Rev. 1992, 92, 889-917.
- 11. (a) Enders, D.; Shilvock, J. P. Chem. Soc. Rev. 2000, 29, 359-373; (b) Shafran, Y. M.; Bakulev, V. A.; Mokrushin, V. S. Russ. Chem. Rev. 1989, 58, 148-162.
- 12. (a) Kobayashi, S.; Ishitani, H. Chem. Rev. 1999, 99, 1069-1094; (b) Vilaivan, T.; Bhanthumnauin, W.; Sritana-Anant, Y. Curr. Org. Chem. 2005, 14, 1315-1392; (c) Connon, S. J. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2008, 47, 1176-1178.
- 13. (a) Spino, C. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2004, 43, 1764-1766; (b) Yet, L. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2001, 40, 875-877; (c) Gröger, H. Chem. Rev. 2003, 103, 2795-2827.
- 14. Rueping, M.; Sugiono, E.; Azap, C. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2006, 45, 2617-2619.
- 15. Rueping, M.; Sugiono, E.; Moreth, S. A. Adv. Synth. Catal. 2007, 349, 759-764.
- 16. Pan, S. C.; Zhou, J.; List, B. Synlett 2006, 3275-3276.
- 17. Pan, S. C.; Zhou, J.; List, B. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2007, 46, 612-614.
- 18. Li, Z.; Sun, Y.; Ren, X.; Wei, P.; Shi, Y.; Ouyang, P. Synlett 2007, 803-805.
- 19. Martinez, R.; Ramon, D. J.; Yus, M. Tetrahedron Lett. 2005, 46, 8471-8474.
- 20. Das, B.; Kumar, R. A.; Thirupathi, P. Helv. Chim. Acta 2007, 90, 1206-1210.
- 21. Leblanc, J.-P.; Gibson, H. W. Tetrahedron Lett. 1992, 33, 6295-6298.

- 22. Bolm, C.; Rantanen, T.; Schiffers, I.; Zani, L. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2005, 44, 1758-1763.
- 23 Heydari, A.; Arefi, A.; Khaksar, S.; Shiroodi, R. K. J. Mol. Catal. A: Chem. 2007, 271, 142-144.
- 24. Corey, E. J.; Grogan, M. J. Org. Lett. 1999, 1, 157-160.
- 25. Li, J.; Jiang, W.-Y.; Han, K.-L.; He, G.-Z.; Li, C. J. Org. Chem. 2003, 68, 8786-8789.
- 26. Huang, J.; Corey, E. J. Org. Lett. 2004, 6, 5027-5029.
- 27. Sigman, M. S.; Jacobsen, E. N. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1998, 120, 4901-4902.
- 28. Su. J. T.: Vachal. P.: Jacobsen. E. N. Adv. Svnth. Catal. 2001. 343, 197-200.
- 29. Sigman, M. J.; Vachal, P.; Jacobsen, E. N. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2000, 39, 1279–1281.
- 30. Vachal. P.: Jacobsen, E. N. Org. Lett. 2000, 2, 867-870.
- 31. Vachal, P.; Jacobsen, E. N. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2002, 124, 10012-10014.
- 32. Wenzel, A. G.; Lalonde, M. P.; Jacobsen, E. N. Synlett 2003, 1919-1922.
- 33. (a) Tsogoeva, S. B.; Yalalov, D. A.; Hateley, M. J.; Weckbecker, C.; Huthmacher, K. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2005, 4995–5000; (b) Tsogoeva, S. B.; Hateley, M. J.; Yalalov, D. A.; Meindl, K.; Weckbecker, C.; Huthmacher, K. Bioorg. Med. Chem. 2005, 13, 5680-5685
- 34. Becker, C.; Hoben, C.; Kunz, H. Adv. Synth. Catal. 2007, 349, 417-424.
- Pan, S. C.; List, B. Synlett 2007, 318–320.
   Pan, S. C.; List, B. Org. Lett. 2007, 9, 1149–1151.
   Olina Tallia H. S. C. (2007) 1149–1151.
- 37. Okino, T.; Hoashi, Y.; Takemoto, Y. Tetrahedron Lett. 2003, 44, 2817-2821.
- Iyer, M. S.; Gigstad, K. M.; Namdev, N. D.; Lipton, M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1996, 118, 38. 4910-4911.
- Seebach, D.; Beck, A. K.; Heckel, A. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2001, 40, 92-138. 30
- 40 Wen, Y.; Xiong, Y.; Chang, L.; Huang, J.; Liu, X.; Feng, X. J. Org. Chem. 2007, 72, 7715-7719
- 41. Surendra, K.; Krishnaveni, N. S.; Mahesh, A.; Ramarao, K. J. Org. Chem. 2006, 71, 2532-2534.
- 42. Lee, S.; Cho, E.; Kwon, C.; Jung, S. Carbohydr. Res. 2007, 342, 2682-2687.
- 43. For a review see: Malkov, A. V.; Kocovsky, P. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2007, 29-36.
- 44. Liu, B.; Feng, X.; Chen, F.; Zhang, G.; Cui, X.; Jiang, Y. Synlett 2001, 1551-1554.
- 45. Jiao, Z.; Feng, X.; Liu, B.; Chen, F.; Zhang, G.; Jiang, Y. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2003, 3818-3826
- 46. Huang, X.; Huang, J.; Wen, Y.; Feng, X. Adv. Synth. Catal. 2006, 348, 2579–2584.
- 47. Huang, J.; Liu, X.; Wen, Y.; Qion, B.; Feng, X. J. Org. Chem. 2007, 72, 204-208.
- 48. Su, Z.; Hu, C.; Qin, S.; Feng, X. Tetrahedron 2006, 62, 4071-4080.
- Takahashi, E.; Fujisawa, H.; Yanai, T.; Mukaiyama, T. Chem. Lett. 2005, 34, 318-319. 49 50 For a review see: Enders, D.; Niemeier, O.; Henseler, A. Chem. Rev. 2007, 107,
- 5606-5655. 51. Fukuda, Y.; Maeda, Y.; Kondo, K.; Aoyama, T. Synthesis 2006, 1937-1939.
- 52. Fukuda, Y.; Kondo, K.; Aoyama, T. Synthesis 2006, 2649-2652
- 53. Negru, M.; Schollmeyer, D.; Kunz, H. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2007, 46, 9339-9341.
- Baeza, A.; Najera, C.; Sansano, J. M. Synthesis 2007, 1230-1234. 54
- Konishi, H.; Ogawa, C.; Sugiura, M.; Kobayashi, S. Adv. Synth. Catal. 2005, 347, 55. 1899-1903.
- 56. Raj, I. V. P.; Suryavanshi, G.; Sudalai, A. Tetrahedron Lett. 2007, 48, 7211-7214.
- 57. Chiba, T.; Okimoto, M. Synthesis 1990, 209-211.
- Banphavichit, V.; Chaleawlertumpton, S.; Bhanthumnavin, W.; Vilaivan, T. 58. Synth. Commun. 2004, 34, 3147-3160.
- 59 Herrera, R. P.; Sgarzani, V.; Bernardi, L.; Fini, F.; Pettersen, D.; Ricci, A. J. Org. Chem. 2006, 71, 9869-9872.
- 60. Ooi, T.; Uematsu, Y.; Maruoka, K. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2006, 128, 2548-2549.
- Kumar, M. A.; Babu, M. F. S.; Srinivasulu, K.; Kiran, Y. B.; Reddy, C. S. J. Mol. Catal. 61. A: Chem. 2007, 265, 268-271.

#### **Biographical sketch**





**Pedro Merino** was born in Zaragoza in 1962 and graduated with an honors M.Sc. degree in chemistry from the University of Zaragoza in 1986. After earning a Ph.D. in organic chemistry from the same university in 1989 under the guidance of Professor Enrique Melendez, he spent two years as a postdoctoral fellow with Professor Alessandro Dondoni at the University of Ferrara (Italy), working on thiazole chemistry applied to asymmetric synthesis. In 1992 he returned to the University of Zaragoza as an Assistant Professor, where he started his independent research. In 1994 he was promoted to Associate Professor and in 2005 he obtained his habilitation as a full professor in organic chemistry. In 2006 he was awarded a Chair in organic chemistry at the Department of Organic Chemistry, University of Zaragoza. His research interests span the areas of asymmetric synthesis, target-oriented synthesis, organometallic chemistry, and asymmetric metal-assisted and organic catalysis.

**Tomás Tejero** was born in Zaragoza, Spain in 1958. He studied Chemistry at the University of Zaragoza, where he received his Ph.D. with honors working with Professor E. Melendez. In 1984, he became Assistant Professor and in 1986 he spent a year as a postdoctoral research associate at the University Pierre et Marie Curie (Paris) under the supervision of Professor J. Normant. In 1987, he returned to Zaragoza and received his habilitation as a Senior Lecturer in 1987. His research interests include asymmetric synthesis including asymmetric catalysis and nuclear magnetic resonance techniques.





**Eugenia Marqués-López** was born in Seville, Spain in 1978. She graduated in chemistry from the University of Seville in 2002. She has recently completed her Ph.D. (2007) in organic chemistry under the supervision of Professor Rosario Fernández and Dr. José M. Lassaletta at the same university. During her Ph.D. she worked on the field of *N*.*N*-dialkylhydrazones as *N*.*N*-dialkylamino imine surrogates and their applications in Staudinger, Mannich, and Strecker-type reactions. She also worked in the laboratory of Dr. John M. Brown at the University of Oxford (UK) on the synthesis of novel diene complexes (2005). After a postdoctoral stay in the Professor Rosario Fernández's group, she is currently in the laboratory of Professor Mathias Christmann working on organo-catalysis at the Technische Universitä Dortmund, Germany.

**Raquel P. Herrera** was born in Alicante, Spain in 1977. She received her B.S. degree from the University of Alicante in 1999 and her M.S. degree from the same University in 2000. From 1999 to 2003, she completed her Ph.D. under the supervision of Professor Albert Guijarro and Professor Miguel Yus at the University of Alicante. She then took up a European postdoctoral contract with Professor Ricci (University of Bologna, Italy) in the Industrial Chemistry Faculty until March 2006, at which time she joined Dr. Jose M. Lassaletta's group at the IIQ-CSIC (Seville, Spain). She was appointed to her present position at ICMA (Instituto de Ciencia de Materiales de Aragón) CSIC-University of Zaragoza in January 2008. Her research interests focus on asymmetric organocatalysis and its applications.